1998

# Wesley Clock and Anne Clock v. John F. Green and Larue Green : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THIS COURT**

Jurisdiction of this Court is granted pursuant to the provision of Section 78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code, and the "pour over" Order of the Utah Supreme Court, dated as of 2 March 1999, transferring this case to the Court of Appeals.

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This appeal and the predicate factual and legal situation in which it arose presents the following issues:

1. Whether the trial court misinterpreted the contract and/or misapplied the law in enforcing the same, by failing to give any effect to the "selling price of \$81,5000 at 10 1/2% interest" clause concerning the purchase price if and when the "option" was actually exercised and which characterized the purchase transaction as "a loan".

2. Whether the trial court erred in failing to take into account the provisions of Sections 15-1-1, 15-1-3 and 15-1-4, Utah Code, which require the assessment of interest on judgments, especially when the contract upon which the judgment was based provides for "interest", at a stated amount, on the forbearance transaction which was characterized as a "loan".

The construction and interpretation of an unambiguous, written contract is a matter of law, to be decided by the court. **Kimball vs Campbell**, 699 P.2d 714 (Utah Supreme Court 1985); **Morris vs Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Company**, 658 P.2d 1199 (Utah Supreme Court 1983).

Whether the terms of a contract are ambiguous is a question of law. **Wade vs Stangl**, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **Equitable Life & Casualty Insurance Company vs Ross**, 849 P.2d 1187, 1192 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993), cert denied 860 P.2d 943 (Utah Supreme Court 1993).

Whether the trial court properly interpreted an unambiguous contract is a question of law. **Allstate Insurance Company vs Liberty Mutual Insurance Group**, 868 P.d 110, 112 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **LMV**

**Leasing, Incorporated vs Conlin**, 805 P.2d 189, 192 (Utah Court of Appeals 1991).

Whether the trial court properly interpreted (or applied) a statute is a question of law reviewed for correctness. **Ong International (U.S.A.), Incorporated vs 11th Avenue Corporation**, 850 P.2d 447, 450 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Bennion vs Graham Resources, Incorporated**, 849 P.2d 569, 570 (Utah 1993); **Jacobsen Investment Company vs State Tax Commission**, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah Supreme Court 1992).

A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases are reviewed for correctness. **Wade vs Stangl**, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994); **Allstate Insurance Company vs Liberty Mutual Insurance Group**, 868 P.2d 111, 112 (Utah Court of Appeals 1994);.

This standard of review has also been referred to as a "correction of error standard". **Jacobsen Investment Company vs State Tax Commission**, 839 P.2d 789, 790 (Utah Supreme Court 1992); **Sanders vs Ovard**, 838 P.2d 1134, 1135 (Utah Supreme Court 1992); **Commercial Union Associates vs Clayton**, 863 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993). "Correction of error" means that no particular deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. **Provo River Water Users' Association vs Morgan**, 857 P.2d 927, 931



(Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Higgins vs Salt Lake County**, 855 P.2d 231, 235 (Utah Supreme Court 1993). The "correction of error" standard means that the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law. **State vs Deli**, 861 P.2d 431, 433 (Utah Supreme Court 1993); **Howell vs Howell**, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah Court of Appeals 1993).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In July 1991 the Plaintiffs---Wesley Clock and Anne Clock, husband and wife, as purchasers [hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the Buyers"]---negotiated with the Defendants---John Green and LaRue Green, husband and wife, as sellers [hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the Sellers"]---for the "option" purchase of a parcel of improved residential property located in Salt Lake County. A one-page, hand-written agreement, consisting of a single paragraph of text, was prepared and signed by the parties. The "option" Agreement [hereinafter sometimes referred to as "the Agreement"] contained certain "lease-purchase" provisions under which the Buyers were allowed to reside on the premises.

The 1991 hand-written "Agreement" in its entirety provides:

7-29-1991

I Wesley Clock and Anne Clock agree to pay \$675.00 per month Plus Sewer and water. There is a \$350.00 deposit plus \$1,000 for a lease option to buy. Starting July 29, 1991 prorated to Aug. 4, 1991, the selling price to be \$81500 **at 10 1/2% interest**. When option is picked up, the \$350.00 plus the \$1,000.00 will be **applied to the down Payment of \$5,000 or more**. The Seller will re-roof and make the carport into a double garage, replace the back door. Other than the things above, the Clocks will take care of any repairs during the option period. There will be a **balloon payment due on the balance of the loan** Aug 5, 1996. The rent to be pro-rated from July 29, 1991 to Aug 4, 1991. Rent to begin on Aug 5, 1991. August 2, \$500.00; Aug 5, \$700.00. Balance by Aug 20, 1991. If the Clocks do not buy they will be renters and Money will not be refunded.

/s/ Anne Clock  
/s/ Wesley Clock  
/s/ John F. Green  
/s/ LaRue Green

Emphasis added. [RECORD at 0005 and 0042.] [A photocopy of the Agreement is included herein as ADDENDUM #1.]

Pursuant to the "rental" provisions of the Agreement, the Greens (as Sellers) allowed the Clocks (as purchasers) to reside in the premises. During the period 1991 to 1996, the Clocks "paid rent" to the Greens. In April 1996 the Clocks notified the Greens that they (the Clocks) intended to exercise the "option" for the purchase of the real estate. [RECORD at 0007.] The Greens---citing the Clocks' failure to make the required "down payment" in a timely fashion and the Clocks' non-compliance with other provisions of

the contract---refused to convey title to the real estate, said refusal thus precipitating the instant litigation.

The District Court initially adjudicated the case pursuant to jointly-filed motions for summary judgment. The Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment on the basis of their averments that they (as Buyers) had presented a notice of intent to exercise the "option" within a timely fashion. [RECORD at 0019 thru 0026; 0058 thru 0063.] The Defendants moved for summary judgment in their favor on the basis that the Plaintiffs' notification was defective, in that the Plaintiffs were in breach of the agreement because they had failed to make the required down payment and because the option was not exercised in a timely manner. [RECORD at 0030 thru 0042.]

The specific issue of the price to be paid---as required by the "at 10 1/2% interest" phrase---was NOT directly raised or adjudicated. The District Court ruled in favor of the Plaintiffs. [RECORD at 0068 thru 0069.] The Defendants appealed the 1996 judgment. [RECORD at 0074-0075.] The Utah Supreme Court "poured-over" [RECORD at 0077] the appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, which issued an unpublished opinion, affirming the District Court's judgment in favor of the

Plaintiffs (purchasers). [RECORD at 81-82.] [A copy of the original "MEMORANDUM DECISION" of the Court of Appeals is attached hereto as APPENDIX 3.] The Utah Supreme Court ultimately denied the Defendant's Petition for Writ of Certiorari. [RECORD at 83.]

Following the filing of the first appeal, the Plaintiffs (as purchasers) took no action to comply with provisions of the agreement concerning the exercise of the "option" and/or the Court's judgment upholding the option and its exercise. The Plaintiffs tendered no money to the Defendants, although they continued to reside upon the premises.

On remand, the District Court---over the objection of the Defendants (sellers)---entered judgment against the Defendants, ordering them to convey to the Buyers the real estate, at the purchase price of \$81,500. [RECORD at 115-116.] [A photocopy of the 1998 "JUDGMENT AND ORDER" is included herewith as ADDENDUM 4.] The "at 10 1/2% interest" clause (pertaining to the purchase price) was given NO EFFECT by the trial court. This latter judgment---which is the basis of the instant appeal---failed to take into account the provisions of agreement concerning the "at 10 1/2% interest" as such affected (i.e. increased). The District Court also seemingly ignored the contractual provisions

characterizing the purchase transaction as a "loan". The judgment also failed to take into account the provisions of Sections 15-1-1 and 15-1-4, Utah Code, pertaining to the assessment of any interest.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The Defendants' arguments are summarized as follows:

1. The "selling price of \$81,500 **at 10 1/2% interest**" (emphasis added) is clear on its face of the Agreement. Given the long-standing rules of contract construction, this unambiguous phrase must be given some meaning. The ONLY meaning and application attributable thereto is that the purchase price was to increase at the rate of 10 1/2% per year. The physical placement of the phrase within the Agreement tends to that conclusion; the grammatical and syntax connection of the phrase to the "selling price" leads to that single conclusion. The trial court ignored the provision and awarded judgment without reference thereto. The Plaintiffs-Appellants (now standing to reap an unintended windfall) desire to have the Court ignore and disregard the provision. But the written text is there; it cannot be ignored or explained away. Its

import must be incorporated into the judgments.

2. In similar vein, the trial court ignored the pertinent Utah statutes which require that judgments bear interest conforming to the written agreements upon which those judgments are based. The entered-judgment (upon which this appeal is based) is absolutely void of any provision which adheres to the statutory mandate.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I**

#### **TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE "AT 10 1/2% INTEREST" PROVISIONS OF THE AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE SELLING PRICE**

The first source of inquiry in a contract interpretation case is the document itself, considered in its entirety. **Hal Taylor Associates vs Unionamerica, Incorporated**, 657 P.2d 743 (Utah Supreme Court 1982); **Larrabee vs Royal Dairy Products Company**, 614 P.2d 160 (Utah Supreme Court 1980). In interpreting the terms of a contract, the reviewing court must look to the agreement as a whole and to the circumstances, nature and purpose of the contract. **Utah State Medical Association vs Utah State Employees Credit Union**, 655 P.2d 543 (Utah Supreme Court 1982). The contract should

be interpreted so as to harmonize all of its provisions. **Jones vs Hinkle**, 611 P.2d 733 (Utah Supreme Court 1980). If possible, ALL of the terms of the contract should be given effect. **G.G.A., Incorporated vs Leventis**, 773 P.2d 841 (Utah Court of Appeals 1987); **Big Cottonwood Tanner Ditch Company vs Salt Lake City**, 740 P.2d 1357 (Utah Court of Appeals 1987), certiorari denied 765 P.2d 1277.

In the case at bar, there are at least FOUR EXPRESS PROVISIONS which clearly indicate that the agreement was to bear interest:

1. The purchase price provision states: "the **selling price to be \$81,500 at 10 1/2% interest**" ...
2. There is to be a "down payment of \$5,000 or more" to be paid;
3. There is to be a "balloon payment"; and
4. The "balloon payment" is to be "due on the balance of the loan".

From the text of the agreement itself, it clearly appears the parties to the transaction contemplated a "loan"-type transaction. And "loans" almost-universally contemplate---and, as in this case, SPECIFY---the payment of interest against the loaned amount, particularly when the contract says it so clearly!

[We are NOT here dealing with an "ambiguity" situation. The "10 1/2% interest" in connection with

the "selling price" is unquestionably clear; it has but one interpretation. The Buyers have advanced no contradictory, reasonable meaning, interpretation or application for the phrase "at 10 1/2% interest". Thus, the rules of construction for "ambiguities" do NOT come into play in the instant analysis.]

### **A**

The Buyers have vigorously contested their desire to enforce the "option" according to its terms, but now seek to have the Court ignore---as the trial court did---the "interest" provisions applicable to the transaction.

If the phrase "the selling price to be \$81500 **at 10 1/2% interest**" doesn't mean that the selling price is to increase---as the Sellers so contend---on an annual basis, then what possible meaning does the phrase "at 10 1/2% interest" mean? The Buyers advance no reasonable interpretation; they merely choose to ignore the phrase. However, disregarding the phrase does violence to the long-established rules of contract interpretation: that ALL the provisions of the contract be given meaning.

The trial court refused to give the phrase any meaning. [Even if the trial court refused to give the provision meaning during the "option period" (i.e. 1991



to 1996), there has to be at least some period of time when the phrase has some effect. The case is almost THREE YEARS AFTER the "option" has been "exercised". Yet the Buyers have yet to fully tender the purchase price! Even if the Court were to ignore the accrual of interest during the 5-year option period (which, for reasons outlined below, is contrary to the intentions of the parties), the Court must---as a minimum---recognize that the contract provided for "10 1/2% interest" following the exercise of the option. Otherwise, the Buyers achieve an interest-free loan for a three-year period or longer.

It is also incongruous to expect that the "at 10 1/2% interest" phrase applies to interest against the selling price AFTER the "option" has been exercised. If the "option" is properly exercised, the real estate is promptly purchased and the Sellers are promptly paid: there is no realistic opportunity for interest to ever accrue (at least in meaningful amounts). Thus, the "at 10 1/2% interest" phrase was not contemplated by the parties for the "post-exercise" situation; the only other situation in which the phrase has any meaning or application is those "pre-exercise" situations---the situations in which the option is not exercised for a considerable time following the execution of the

original contract. That is exactly what we have here and that is exactly why the trial court should have included the "interest" in the judgment(s) ordering the sale.

That the parties agreed to the "10 1/2 interest" to be applied to the "selling price", as applied from the very beginning, can be discerned from the conduct of the parties as well as the face of the document. If, as the Buyers assert, the phrase has NO MEANING or application (either pre-1996 or post-1996), then why would the Sellers go to such extent to put the provision in the contract, directly tied to the purchase price? What possible **other meaning**---any meaning---can the provision have? Why would the Sellers---so seemingly concerned about every dollar involved in the transaction that the parties "prorate" the "rents" down to a five-day period, which apparently increase from \$500 per month (if paid on August 2nd) to \$700 (if paid on August 5th)? Why would the parties---and particularly the Sellers---worry about specifying that the back door is to be repaired (at an undisclosed price, but arguably measured at most in the couple hundred dollar range), and then literally give away tens of thousands of dollars in an interest-free "loan", for as long as five years (as the trial court

originally ruled) and an ADDITIONAL THREE YEARS as the Buyers would have the Court now rule? [Against the \$81,500 "selling price", the "10 1/2% interest" for a single year is approximately \$8500; for the three years 1996 to 1999, the post-judgment interest accruing against the "selling price" which still has NOT YET BEEN PAID is in excess of \$25,000! And that's \$25,000 the Buyers don't want to pay! But its \$25,000 that the contract obligates them to pay. If the contract is not so interpreted, then the rule of construction that "ALL provisions of the contract" are to be given meaning (as per **Leventis**, supra, and **Big Cottonwood**, supra,) is ignored.

## **B**

Another method of approaching the transaction and the meaning of the contract---and the operative effect of its provisions, ALL of them---would be to engage in a couple of hypothetical examples which illustrate, in principle, the "at 10 1/2% interest" provision applicable to the "selling price".

Hypothetical #1: The "option" is exercised a mere two months after the contract is signed. In this case, the purchase price is essentially the \$81,500 specified; the 10 1/2% interest for 60 days is relatively minor. The

Sellers get the \$81,500, which they then can invest---at prevailing "market rates" and "life goes on"! But their investment continues to earn money.

Hypothetical #2: The Buyers exercise the "option" a year later. They must pay about \$90,000 for the real estate. But that's the price they'd pay---whether they or somebody else was renting the property---for it anyway, because that's what "the market" would demand!

Hypothetical #3: In this example, the Buyers don't exercise the option for five years and don't pay anything for three years afterward! [That's what has factually happened and continues to happen, even now!] The Buyers then purchase the residence in 1999---using 1999 "dollars"---for a purchase price set in 1991. It doesn't make sense! And not only does it not make sense; such a result---which is what the Buyers now want---goes against the face of the very contract they seek to have enforced! [Under this "hypothetical", the Sellers lose \$60,000+, over an 8-year period!]

Inflation (albeit in moderate rates) and appreciation of real estate in the Salt Lake Valley

have been a "fact of life" so long with the metropolitan Salt Lake City area that it is almost counter-intuitive to deny their existence! That same inflation and/or real estate appreciation could almost be "judicially noticed". Why, then, is it so difficult to factor such into the actual "selling price", when the same is EXPRESSLY PROVIDED FOR IN THE FACE OF THE AGREEMENT?

The phrase "selling price at 10 1/2% interest" must be given meaning. The only reasonable meaning---from the text itself and from the parties own external conduct---is that it refers to the annual rate of interest at which the "loan" was to be paid by the Buyers. It can have no other reasonable meaning.

IF the Buyers are able to advance an interpretation to the "10 1/2% interest" phrase (as connected to the selling price), we have the result that they are allowed to purchase---now, in 1999---the real estate for the price it would have sold for in 1991! The phrase is simply ignored! On the other hand, if the Sellers' interpretation is followed, the Sellers receive a reasonable return on their investment (i.e. forbearance on the "loan"): 10 1/2%. That rate of interest is not, per se, unreasonable or unrealistic; the "statutory rate" at the time was (and is) 10% [per

Section 15-1-1(2), Utah Code. Thus, had the option been exercised a year later (in 1992), the "selling price" would be about \$90,000. In 1993, it would be another "10 1/2%" greater, about \$98,500; in 1994, \$107,000; and so on. In 1999, the purchase price would have been in the \$130,000-range: again, reflective of the inflationary or "appreciation" factors inherent in this type of situation. If the Buyers' approach is followed, the Sellers must sell in 1999 (or even 1996) at a price in 1991 dollars; NO INTEREST is allowed, even though the contract clearly provides for such, as tied to the "selling price". On the other hand, if the Sellers' interpretation is followed, the "selling price" is approximately \$130,000. Is such fair? Yes! Is it what the contract, on its face, provides? Yes! Is it what the parties reasonably agreed to? Yes!

Where courts have to choose between conflicting interpretations to a contract, the interpretation which will bring an equitable result will be preferred over one which brings about an inequitable result. **First Security Bank of Utah, N.A. vs Maxwell**, 659 P.2d 1078 (Utah Supreme Court 1983). The interpretation and approach advanced by the Buyers and adopted by the trial court leads but to that inequitable result, that the Sellers must, in 1999, accept \$81,500 when the

contract provided they should receive about \$130,000!

It's not reasonable to expect that for the mere payment of a \$1,350 the Buyers would be able to "lock-in", for a five-year period, the purchase of the real estate worth \$81,500. The "five-year period" was, as the previous decisions have affirmed, for the period in which the "option" could be exercised; it is a totally different thing to construe the contract to hold the "selling price" constant for that entire 5-year (or, as the situation has become, 8-year) period! Such flies in the face of logic and CONTRADICTS THE CLEAR MEANING OF THE WRITTEN TERMS!

### **C**

A third approach is to attribute the 10 1/2% interest to those amounts unpaid---and thus accruing interest---from the 1996 "judgment" first entered by the trial court, as to when the "option" was first exercised. [In the intervening three years since that exercise, the amount of the "interest" is substantial: in excess of \$25,000.]

### **D**

In addition to the "contract" requirements, the Court should impose the stated (and agreed-upon) interest rate upon the unpaid balance (from the time the option was exercised), as is required by statute,

as explained in Point II, below.

## II

### TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO PROVIDE FOR INTEREST ON THE JUDGMENT RESULTING FROM THE PROVISIONS OF THE CONTRACT OR UNDER THE UTAH STATUTE

It is without dispute that from 1991 to when the "option" would be "exercised", the Sellers would "forebear" in the receipt of monies as proceeds from the sale of the home.

Section 15-1-1, Utah Code, provides:

(1) The parties to a lawful contract **may agree upon any rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods or chose in action that is the subject of their contract.**

(2) Unless parties to a lawful contract specify a different rate of interest, the legal rate of interest for the loan or forbearance of any money, goods, or chose in action shall be 10% per annum.

. . .

Section 15-1-3, Utah Code, provides:

Whenever in any statute or deed, **or written or verbal contract**, or in any public or private instrument whatever, **any certain rate of interest is mentioned and no period of time is stated**, interest shall be calculated at the rate mentioned **by the year.**

Emphasis added.

In the instant situation, the "lease-option" agreement specifies "10 1/2% interest". It is reasonable to construe the contract that the "selling



price" is to be adjusted by that amount. [Whether the transaction is also characterized as a "loan" probably doesn't matter. What does matter is that the Agreement clearly contains the provision and, in light of the contract construction principles identified in Point I, above, the provision MUST BE GIVEN SOME MEANING AND EFFECT!]

Section 15-1-4, Utah Code, provides:

(1) Any judgment rendered on a lawful contract **shall conform to the contract and shall bear interest agreed upon by the parties, which shall be specified in the judgment.**

(2) Other judgments shall bear interest at the federal postjudgment interest rate as of January 1 of each year, plus 2%.

. . .

Emphasis added.

The trial judge is required as a matter of law to award the statutorily mandated rate of interest, even though, with the passage of time, the award has become large. **Mont Trucking, Incorporated vs Entrada Industries, Incorporated**, 802 P.2d 779 (Utah Court of Appeals 1990). Interest is allowed on debts overdue, even in the absence of a statute or contract providing therefor. **Wasatch Mining Company vs Crescent Mining Company**, 7 Utah 8, 24 Pac. 586 (Utah Supreme Court 1890), affirmed 151 US 317, 38 L.Ed. 177 (1894). Under the former provisions of Section 15-1-4 (prescribing

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