1998

Wesley Clock and Anne Clock v. John Green and Larue Green : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court's final judgment is that Clocks pay the purchase price of \$81,500.00, without interest. This is the law of the case. The interest issue raised by the Appellants/Greens is time barred. Therefore, there is no jurisdiction over this issue.
2. Statutory interest under UCA-15-1-1, et. seq., or interest as established under case law applies only to in personam money judgments, not orders of specific performance or declaratory judgments. If a declaratory judgment or a judgment ordering specific performance does not provide for payment of interest, interest is not due. Thus, even if there is jurisdiction for this appeal, Greens are not entitled to an award of interest on the final judgment.
3. The Clocks are entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs and/or sanctions since this appeal is one that is not grounded in fact, not warranted by existing law, or not based upon a good faith argument to extend, modify or reverse

existing law. Since the Greens were not entitled to this appeal by reason of the prior affirmation of the final judgment by this Court, this second appeal is merely a delay and imposition upon the Clocks causing them to incur substantial additional costs and attorney fees in order to compel the Greens to comply with the final judgment.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE INTEREST ISSUE RAISED BY APPELLANTS' SECOND APPEAL IS TIME BARRED AND APPELLANTS HAVE NO RIGHT OR BASIS FOR MAKING A CLAIM FOR PAYMENT OF INTEREST.

In its ruling on the cross-motions for Summary Judgment, the Trial Court specifically found that the purchase price to be paid by the Clocks is \$81,500. The Order and Judgment dated September 5, 1996, paragraph 3, is emphatically clear on this point:

“3. The Defendants shall upon receipt of \$81,500 convey the said real property to the Plaintiffs, Wesley Clock and Annie Clock.” [See Exhibit “A”].

The final judgment precludes interest and sets the amount of the purchase price with specificity. The effect of the Defendants’ failure to argue the interest issue during the first appeal is that the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals reaffirming the Trial Court’s decision of the purchase price without interest became the “law of the case”, and is *res judicata*. See *Schoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc.*, 863 P.2d 59 (Utah App. 1993). Therefore,

the right to raise the interest issue by the Defendants was waived in the first appeal and became the law of the case and irreversible after the Memorandum Decision of the Utah Court of Appeals issued on the first appeal in this case. This second appeal constitutes nothing more than an attempt to reinstate and relitigate the case on matters which have been fully and finally adjudicated, and on which the Greens have failed to raise objections and issues on appeal with the Appellate Court in the first instance.

In *Schoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc.*, 863 P.2d 59 (Utah App. 1993), the court held that matters concluded by the Appellate Court become *res judicata* and the law of the case and barred further determinations by the Trial Court. In *Schoney*, the Court further stated that such final decisions by the Appellate Court do not constitute a remand of the case to the trial court for further determinations of the issues which should have been raised on appeal. *Id.* At 863 P.2d 61.

Essentially what the Defendants are attempting here is to twist the Order (Exhibit “B”), issued by the Trial Judge Homer Wilkinson on August 26, 1998, into a new ruling thus hoping for a second right to appeal. Nevertheless, they are not entitled to a second appeal because the issues which they raise in this second appeal had to be raised in the first appeal. This Order is nothing more than an Order enforcing of the Utah Court of Appeals Memorandum Decision and does not constitute a new ruling by the Trial Court.

The Defendants’ attempt to raise the interest issue by a Post Trial Motion is barred by the law of the case and *res judicata* and is time barred. See *Schoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc.*, 863 P.2d (Utah 1983); *Salt Lake Citizens Congress v. Mtn. States Tel. Co.*, 846 P.2d

1245 (Utah 1992); *Jacobsen v. Jacobsen*, 703 P.2d 303 (Utah 1985); *Penrod v. Nu Creations Creme, Inc.*, 669 P.2d 873 (Utah 1983). The legal effect of these doctrines is that the Appellate Court lacks jurisdiction to entertain the interest issue which is precluded by the Defendant's failure to raise this issue timely in the first appeal.

The Appellants are trying a fall back position. Since they did not win on the initial appeal, they are attempting to obtain the same result by another course. The route of the first appeal did not work. They are using this second appeal to still try to get more money than they had agreed to sell the property for.

II.

THE APPELLANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF INTEREST IN CONNECTION WITH A FINAL JUDGMENT WHICH IS DECLARATORY IN NATURE.

Utah Law and the law of other jurisdictions is clear that the statutory interest provided on judgments only applies to money judgments rendered against a person "in personam". A final order or judgment which cannot be executed upon for money does not constitute a "money judgment" or a judgment "in personam".

The applicable statute is Utah Code Annotated §15-1-4, which provides as follows:

1. "Any judgment rendered on a lawful contract shall conform to the contract and shall bear the interest agreed upon by the parties, which shall be specified in the judgment."
2. Other judgments shall bear interest at the federal post-judgment interest rate as of January 1 of each year, plus 2 percent.

The seminal case in Utah is *Sidney Stevens Implement Co. v. South Ogden Land*

Building and Implement Co., 58 P.843 (Utah 1989). In this case, the Utah Supreme Court reviewed the original interest judgment statute which contained language similar to the current Utah Statute, that “any judgment rendered on a contract shall conform thereto and shall bear interest agreed upon by the parties, which should be specified in the judgment.” The Utah Court held that “the statute has no application, except to personal judgments”. The Court’s analysis focused on the fact that a personal judgment is found only where an execution can be made on the judgment.¹ [Greens cannot obtain a writ of Execution on the Order of Judge Wilkinson which does not grant them a judgment. It orders the Greens to specifically perform on the set purchase price].

The same principles have been upheld in *State Road Commission v. Danielson*, 247 P.2d 900 (Utah 1952). This case involved a condemnation proceeding. The Court ruled that until damages for condemnation are determined, there is no judgment which will bear interest within the meaning of Utah’s Judgment Interest Statute. The Court reasoned that “judgment” as contemplated by the Utah Judgment Interest Statute means only a final judgment where the exact amount of damages is ascertained. [Our judgment did not determine damages, but ordered specific performance].

The case of *Kamaole Resort Twenty-One v. Ficke Hawaiian Investment*, 591 P.2d

¹In the *Sidney Stevens Implement* case, the court issued a judgment of foreclosure on a mortgage. The plaintiff asked that interest accrue on the mortgage foreclosure judgment from the date of the order. However, the Utah Supreme Court ruled that until the return of the Sheriff was made, there was no deficiency which could be determined, and no execution could be obtained on the deficiency. Therefore, until that took place, there was not a personal judgment against the debtor. The Court specifically stated that this statute has no application except to personal judgments.

104 (1979) is very helpful in understanding when a judgment is eligible for statutory interest. In *Kamaole*, the Court notes that other jurisdictions have universally applied the judgment interest statute only to “money judgments”. The Court stated as follows:

“However, it is obvious that a judgment which requires the performance of an act other than the payment of money or its equivalent could not provide a basis for the computation of interest and that statutory interest could not accrue on such a judgment . . .”

The primary case cited by Appellants, *Dairy Distributors, Inc. v. Local Union*, 976, *Joint Counsel* 87, *Western Conference of Teamsters*, 396 P.2d 47 (Utah 1964) is personal money judgment case. Dairy Distributors obtained a personal money judgment for \$100,000 against defendants. The clerk did not fill in the blanks providing for interest. It was not a declaratory judgment ordering specific performance. Therefore, the holding of the *Dairy Distributors* case does not apply to our case and is much different than our declaratory final judgment which specifically enforces a set purchase price for the property.

Other jurisdictions have held that the judgment interest statute is inapplicable to judgments which order the completion of an act or transfer of property. See *Redke v. Silver Trust*, 490 P.2d 805 (Cal. 1971); *Gen v. Penopescot Co.*, 342 A.2d 270 (Me 1975); *Hoffman v. Love*, 523 S.W.2d 503 (Tex.App.1975). The *Kamaole* Court further notes that other courts hold that statutes awarding interest on judgments are applicable only to judgments which may be enforced by writ of execution. See *Gayden v. Kurt*, 44 So.2d 410 (Miss. 1950); *Estate of Lunga*, 360 So.2d 109 (Fla.App. 1978).

In the more recent decision of *Olmsted v. Liza Jennings, Inc.*, 565 N.E.2d 389 (Ohio

App. 1995), the Court held that interest is statutorily required under the Ohio statute only on the rendering of a money judgment that is definite in amount.

While our initial contract does include a provision for 10 ½ % interest, that interest recitation only applies to an early contract purchase of the property. If the property were to have been purchased under the contract, (before the balloon payment date of August 5, 1996), that contract would have been carried at a 10 ½ % interest. The Clocks instead chose to finance the purchase of the property under the contract by paying the lump sum selling price of \$81,500.00. Therefore, no interest on a lump sum payment is called for under the contract.

III.

THE APPELLEE'S ARE ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES, COSTS, AND/OR SANCTIONS.

Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure provides that if an appeal is “either frivolous or for delay, the Court shall award the just damages, which may include single or double costs, including reasonable attorneys fees, to the prevailing party. The Court may order that the damages be paid by the party or by the party’s attorney.”

A frivolous appeal is one that is not grounded in fact, nor warranted by existing law, or not based on a good faith argument to extend, modify or reverse existing law. See Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 33(b). In *Hunt v. Hurst*, 785 P.2d 414, (Utah 1990), the Supreme Court stated that a frivolous appeal is “one in which no justiciable question has

been presented and appeal is readily recognizable as devoid of merit in that there is little prospect that it can ever succeed.”

The second appeal filed in the instant action is frivolous, in bad faith and clearly imposed for delay based upon the underlying facts:

- a. The Defendants’ counsel failed to raise the interest issue in the first appeal and the Trial Court’s decision affirmed by the Memorandum Decision of the Utah Court of Appeals became law of the case and *res judicata* on the interest issue.
- b. Had the Defendants properly raised the interest issue in the first appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals would have correctly decided that interest did not accrue on the purchase price because the Trial Court and the Utah Court of Appeals both concluded that the Defendants breached the contract by refusing to close with the buyers, equitably barring the accrual of interest. (See 74 Am. Jur.2d *Tender* § 39; 77 Am.Jur.2d *Vendor and Purchaser* § 311). The Greens’ argument that the Trial Court’s Order dated September 5, 1996, is a judgment bearing interest is frivolous because said Order is not an *in personam* judgment on which interest accrues. See *Kamaole Resort Twenty-One v. Ficke Hawaiian Investment*, 591 P.2d 104 (1979). R. 113 and 115.
- c. Rather than comply with the Order and Judgment rendered by the Trial Court and Utah Court of Appeals Memorandum Decision, and having

realized that the interest issue was precluded and time barred and waived by Defendants' failure to raise the interest issue in the first appeal, the Defendants proceeded to file a non-meritorious motion, namely the Motion for Contempt, which was denied by the Trial Court. R. 113 and 115.

- d. The Greens continue to refuse to comply with the Trial Court and Utah Court of Appeals mandates and continue to refuse to close the real estate transaction with the Clocks. The Greens have now filed the instant non-meritorious second appeal to further delay in having to close with the Clocks.
- e. The Clocks continue to incur substantial costs and attorneys fees to compel the Greens to comply with the Trial Court and Utah Court of Appeals' Decision. The Clocks have attempted to close with the title company and have incurred substantial loan costs and continue to incur attorneys fees to fight this frivolous second appeal. (See Affidavit of Wesley Clock, Exhibit "F" to Motion for Summary Disposition).

The defendants have exhausted every available remedy they have with regard to the final judgment (Exhibit "A") issued by this Court. It was upon their own choice that they did so. They have delayed the closing of the sale for over two years. Yet, the Greens continue to try to exercise their own judgment in place of that set forth in the final judgment.

The natural course of financing property is that loans are funded when they can be